IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC 06-2104

DUANE E. OWEN

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

DIRECT APPEAL

JAMES L.DRISCOLL JR
Florida Bar No. 0078840
Assistant CCRC
CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL
COUNSEL-MIDDLE
3801 CORPOREX PARK DRIVE
SUITE 210
TAMPA, FLORIDA 33619-1136
(813) 740-3544
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal of the circuit court's denial of Mr. Owen's postconviction motion filed under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851 and 3.850.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal of the order from the Circuit Court, in and for Palm Beach County, Florida, denying Duane Owen's Motion to Vacate Judgment of Convictions and Death Sentences.

Mr. Owen was charged by indictment with first degree murder, sexual battery and burglary. After a jury trial Mr. Owen was convicted of first degree murder, attempted sexual battery and burglary and sentenced to death.

Prior to the first trial, counsel filed and litigated a motion to suppress statements by Mr. Owen about this case, the Worden homicide, and a number of non-capital cases. The trial court ruled against Mr. Owen and his statements made to law enforcement were admitted into evidence. On direct appeal, this Court reversed Mr. Owen's conviction and sentence and remanded for the retrial that is the subject of this appeal. Owen v. State, 560 So. 2d 207 (Fla. 1990). The Court held that Mr. Owen's post-Miranda statements to law enforcement, "I'd rather not talk about it," and "I don't want to talk about it," were "at the least, an equivocal invocation of the Miranda right to terminate questioning, which could only be clarified." Id. at 211.

Before Mr. Owen was retried, the United States Supreme Court issued $Davis\ v.\ United\ States,\ 512\ U.S.\ 452\ (1994),$ holding that an equivocal invocation of the right to an attorney

during custodial interrogation did not require police to stop questioning a suspect. The trial court refused to revisit the issue of Mr. Owen's confession in light of *Davis* despite the urging of the State.

The State filed a petition for a writ of certiorari in the Fourth District Court of Appeal which denied the petition because the suppression of the confession was the law of the The district court, however, certified the question of the applicability of Davis to the admissibility of confessions in light of previous state decisions. State v. Owen, 654 So. 2d 200 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995). This Court accepted the question and found that its prior decisions addressing the right to remain silent "were predicated on [the Court's] understanding of federal law that even an equivocal invocation of Miranda rights required the police to terminate the interrogation or clarify the suspect's wishes." State v. Owen, 696 So. 2d 715, 718-19 (Fla. 1997). This Court held that the Davis rationale applied to invocations of the right to remain silent and stated that "police in Florida need not ask clarifying questions if a defendant who has received proper Miranda warnings makes only an equivocal or ambiguous request to terminate an interrogation after having validly waived his or her Miranda rights." Id. at 718.

For purposes of retrial, this Court stated, "with respect

to this issue, Owen stands in the same position as any other defendant who has been charged with murder but has not yet been tried. Just as it would be in the case of any other defendant, the admissibility of Owen's confession in his new trial will be subject to the *Davis* rationale that [the Court] adopt[ed] in this opinion." *Id*.

At retrial, Mr. Owen was represented by Carey Haughwout and Donnie Murrell. The prosecutors were A. Wayne Chalu and Christopher Moody, both employed by the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit State Attorney's Office. That State Attorney's Office was appointed because Mr. Owen's attorney from the first trial was the elected State Attorney for Palm Beach County.

Prior to the retrial that is the subject of these postconviction proceedings, trial counsel filed, (Vol. 16 R. 3019), and argued a new motion to suppress Mr. Owen's statements to law enforcement. (Vol. 28-31). The trial court denied the motion to suppress. (Vol. 32 R. 1333).

Mr. Owen filed a Notice of Intent to Rely on Insanity. (Vol. 17 R.3263-64). Mr. Owen pursued an insanity defense during the guilt phase and called two mental health professionals, Dr. Fredrick Berlin, (Vol. 55 R. 5389-5435), and Dr. Faye Sultan (Vol. 56 R. 5573-5661). Both opined that Mr. Owen was insane at the time of the offense. The jury rejected the insanity defense. Mr. Owen was convicted of first-degree murder, attempted sexual

battery with a deadly weapon or force likely to cause serious personal injury and armed burglary of a dwelling. See (Vol. 60 R.6113-14).

At the penalty phase, Mr. Owen called Dr. Berlin and Dr. Sultan as witnesses again. (Vol. 63 R. 6546-6587, 6627-6692). Additionally, Mr. Owen called neuropsychologist Dr. Barry Crown as a witness. (Vol. 62 R. 6486-6542). The jury recommended a death sentence, but the recommendation was not unanimous. (Vol. 65 R.6994). After a *Spencer* hearing the Circuit Court imposed a death sentence. (Vol. 65 R. 7023).

On direct appeal following retrial, this Court affirmed the trial court's denial of the motion to suppress. This Court found that "[b]ecause we have, on numerous occasions, deemed Owen's responses to be equivocal, the trial court properly rejected Owen's motion to suppress based on this claim as well." Owen v. State, 862 So. 2d 687, 697 (Fla. 2003). Mr. Owen petitioned the United States Supreme Court for a writ of certiorari. The Court denied Mr. Owen's Petition. Owen v. Florida, 543 U.S. 986 (2004).

On December 29, 2003, Mr. Owen entered postconviction following this Court's issuance of a mandate and appointing of CCRC-South. (Vol. I Supp. PCR. 2-3). On March 9, 2004, CCRC-South filed a motion to withdraw and appoint CCRC-M, which the lower court granted on March 16, 2004. (Vol. I Supp. PCR. 70-

83). The records process in this case was extraordinarily complicated and is discussed under Argument I.

On October 25, 2005, Mr. Owen sent a verified Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Death Sentence by Federal Express. (Vol. I PCR. 75). By order signed November 3, 2005, and docketed by the clerk on November 8, 2005, the lower court ordered the State to respond to Mr. Owen's postconviction motion. (Vol. I PCR. 80). The State responded on December 29, 2005, (Vol. I PCR. 89-138), and also filed record excerpts on February 10, 2006. (Vol. I PCR. 141-200).

The lower court never held any status conferences as required by Rule 3.851(c)(2). Before holding even a case management conference, also required under the Rule, the lower court issued an order summarily denying Mr. Owen an evidentiary hearing in part and granting an evidentiary hearing in part. (Vol. II PCR. 299-300).

The order, rendered on February 24, 2006, set an evidentiary hearing on the claims which were not denied for March 31, 2006. (Vol. II PCR. 300). The court also issued an Order of Transport and Order Setting Hearing for the March 31, 2006 date. (Vol. II PCR. 301). Mr. Owen filed a Motion for Rehearing on Order Denying Hearing in Part. (Vol. II PCR. 304-06). The Motion addressed the impropriety of the order setting an evidentiary hearing without holding case management

conference. (Vol. II PCR. 304-06). The Motion argued further that under Rule 3.851 Mr. Owen was entitled to a hearing on all claims for which he designated as requiring a factual determination. (Vol. II PCR. 304-06). The State also filed its own Motion for Reconsideration. (Vol. II PCR. 302-03).

The lower court vacated the February 24, 2006 order. (Vol. II PCR. 307). In this order the court set a case management conference for March 31, 2006. (Vol. II PCR. 307). At the case management conference the court heard arguments in favor and against holding an evidentiary hearing on each of Mr. Owen's claims. Mr. Owen's position was that he was entitled to what Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851(f)(A)(i) states he is entitled to - - "an evidentiary hearing . . .on the claims listed by [Mr. Owen] as requiring factual development." (Vol. VIII PCR. 1-49). The State took the contrary position on some of the claims and agreed to a hearing on others.

On May 18, 2006 Mr. Owen filed an Amended Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Death Sentence. (Vol. II PCR.315-391). The State responded. (Vol. II PCR. 392-400). On June 1 2006, the lower court held the second case management conference. (Vol. VIII PCR. 50-87). Once again Mr. Owen argued that under the Rule he was entitled to a hearing on each claim he designated as requiring a factual determination.

The lower court denied Mr. Owen an evidentiary hearing on

the claims which he amended and supplemented. See (Vol. VIII PCR. 82). The court set an evidentiary hearing for one day, August 11, 2006, despite Mr. Owen's request for more time to fully present the witnesses on even the limited claims for which he did receive a hearing. See (Vol. VIII PCR. 84).

At the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Owen called a number of witnesses that were peers of Mr. Owen during his developmental years in Indiana and Michigan. These witnesses testified to have personally seen Mr. Owen use drugs and alcohol as a child. In varying degrees, each of these witnesses detailed the pervasiveness, effect and devastation of the drugs and alcohol on Mr. Owen as a child. See (Vol. IX PCR.151-172, 253-276).

Mr. Owen called two witnesses who were employed by the VFW Boy's home when Mr. Owen was forced to live there following the death of both his parents during his childhood. Each generally recounted the VFW Home's environment, with specifics about the drug problem the Home suffered under. See (Vol. IX PCR. 133-51, 173-182). Fred Morlock was able to offer even greater insight having furthered his education since the time he interacted with Mr. Owen and the Home.

In further support of the claims for which he was granted a hearing Mr. Owen called two mental health professionals; Dr. Henry Dee and Heidi Hanlon-Guerra. Dr. Dee was qualified in neuropsychology and testified about the effects of drugs and

alcohol on Mr. Owen in combination with his numerous other mental infirmities. See (Vol. IX PCR. 95-133). Ms. Hanlon was accepted as an expert under her professional designations. She provided insight to the particulars of Mr. Owen's substance abuse and its effect on his development and later actions. See (Vol. IX PCR. 224-44)

Lastly, Mr. Owen called his lead trial attorney Carey Haughwout, and his lead investigator, Hilary Sheenan. (Vol. IX PCR. 183-224, 245-47). Both testified on a number of matters at issue in the evidentiary hearing. Mr. Owen rested. The State then called no witnesses.

Both parties tendered written closing arguments and supplemental closing arguments. (Vol III-IV PCR. 443-96,497-569, 573-648, 748-771). On September 22, 2006, the court rendered an order denying Mr. Owen postconviction relief. (Vol. IV PCR.684) This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

Mr. Owen was entitled to a hearing on each of the claims he designated as requiring a factual determination. The lower court illegally denied Mr. Owen an evidentiary hearing. Mr. Owen was also entitled to relief on the claims which Mr. Owen was given a hearing.

At the evidentiary hearing Mr. Owen proved that he was denied the effective assistance of counsel during jury

selection, guilt phase and penalty phase. This Court should reverse for either the full evidentiary hearing he was denied or the fair trial he never received.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court should apply de novo review as per Stephens v. State, 748 So. 2d 1028, 1032 (Fla. 2000).

ARGUMENT I

MR. OWEN WAS ENTITLED TO HEARING ON THE CLAIMS WHICH HE DESIGNATED AS REQUIRING A FACTUAL DETERMINATION. THE LOWER COURT'S OF AN EVIDENTIARY **HEARING** RELIEFIN VIOLATED THESIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES COUNSTITUTION AND DENIED MR. OWEN'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS, HABEAS CORPUS AND ACCESS THE UNDER FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND CORRESPONDING FLORIDA LAW.

PART I:

A. INTRODUCTION

In 2001, Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851 was revised and became effective. In 2006 the lower court, with not even a remote claim of authority, revoked the newly revised Rule and turned the calendar back to before 2001.

Mr. Owen entered postconviction in 2003 and accordingly filed a motion under the effective Rule in place at the time.

Mr. Owen fully complied with the Rule and filed a motion which met all of the pleading requirements contained in Rule 3.851 (e)(1). In other words, Mr. Owen did exactly what the Rule

required, when it was required. Mr. Owen, however, was the only party to this litigation which fully complied with Rule 3.851 and suffered under the Rule's burdens without being afforded any of its benefits.

As an initial matter it is important to consider what the apparent purpose of the 2001 revision of Rule 3.851 was not; it was not an attempt to make postconviction more cumbersome. It was not an attempt to make it easier for the circuit courts to dispense with capital postconviction claims, nor to deny those with claims of constitutional violation access to the courts of this State or this Nation. And while the commentary mentions "the failure to hold evidentiary hearings on initial motions as a major cause of delay in the capital postconviction process," the commentary gives no indication that the drafters chose expediency over the remedy of constitutional violations in capital cases. See COMMENTARY Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851

This argument describes how the postconviction process worked in Mr. Owen's case. The description should lead this Court to find that it did not work very well at all. Mr. Owen raised substantive constitutional violations, each discussed under this argument, each of which required a remedy which the lower court's denial of an evidentiary hearing in violation of Rule 3.851 foreclosed for Mr. Owen. This Court should remand Mr.

Owen's case for the hearing that he was entitled so that he may obtain the remedy which justice requires.

B. MR. OWEN ENTERS POSTCONVICTION

Mr. Owen appealed the judgment of conviction and death sentence in this case. This Court affirmed and denied rehearing on December 19, 2003. Owen v. State, 862 So. 2d 687(Fla. 2003). Mr. Owen timely sought a Writ of Certiorari in the United States Supreme Court. This Court appointed CCRC-South on December 19, 2003. (Vol. I Supp. PCR. 2-3). CCRC-South could not file the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and Mr. Owen's successor direct appellate counsel refused to do so. With no counsel to file a Petition before the highest Court, Mr. Owen filed his own petition representing himself until later when the United States Supreme Court appointed Mr. Owen counsel before that Court.

Meanwhile the records process of Rule 3.852 was underway. A number of agencies submitted records to the repository. See (Vol. I Supp. PCR. 187). With the noted exception of the State Attorney's Office most of the agencies claimed erroneous and improper exemptions under to the disclosure required under Rule 3.852. In order to review pretty much any records at all Mr. Owen was forced to file a Motion For In Camera Inspection and to Unseal Records Claimed to be Exempt. See (Vol. II Supp. PCR. 197-224).

By now the case had been transferred to Judge Krista Marx.

Mr. Owen needed records and he needed a judge to rule on his motion for in camera inspection. Effectively, however, Mr. Owen had no judge because Judge Marx had not received the required training to be death qualified. As a result, and with no Judge to hold the required status conferences required by Rule 3.851, on March 31, 2005 Mr. Owen filed a motion to transfer the case to a death qualified judge. (Vol. Supp. PCR. 240-42).

The Chief Judge of the Circuit appointed Judge Lindsey to hear Mr. Owen's Motion for In Camera Inspection. (Vol. II Supp. PCR. 243). On April 7, 2005 the court ordered the records sent to the clerk of the Court. (Vol. II Supp. PCR. 260-295). On July 22, 2005, the court granted Mr. Owen access to all of the records the various agencies claimed were exempt. (Vol. II Supp. PCR. 299-300).

CCRC-M sent investigators to the clerk's office to copy the records that were disclosed. After a comparison of the records disclosed and the records requested it was apparent that the court had not reviewed and disclosed all of the files. As Mr. Owen's state and federal time elapsed he filed another motion on August 11, 2005, for disclosure of the remaining, unreviewed boxes. (Vol. II Supp. PCR. 302-06).

Mr. Owen needed to file a postconviction motion to meet the State deadline for filing a motion for postconviction and stop the federal time from elapsing entirely. On October 25, 2005

Mr. Owen sent a verified motion to the clerk of the circuit court by overnight federal express. A hurricane hit the Palm Beach area closing the clerk's office and Mr. Owen's motion was rerouted through Memphis before the Clerk's Office finally received the motion on October 31, 2005.

On the same date that the clerk's office recorded the filing of Mr. Owen's Motion, October 31, 2005, the lower court, now with Judge Marx qualified and back on the case, issued an order allowing Mr. Owen to inspect and copy the remaining records. (Vol. I PCR. 76-79). CCRC-M again went to the clerk's office and copied the remaining records.

C. THE LOWER COURT DENIES CLAIMS WITHOUT A CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE AND SETS AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING

On November 8, 2005, the lower court ordered the State to respond to Mr. Owen's postconviction motion. (Vol. I PCR. 80). The court next issued an order, on February 24, 2006, denying Mr. Owen's motion in part and granting a hearing on the remainder of his claims. (Vol. II PCR. 299). The court set the hearing for March 31, 2006. (Vol. II PCR.300). The lower court also ordered that Mr. Owen be transported to the Palm Beach County Jail for the hearing. (Vol. II PCR. 301).

Mr. Owen immediately filed a motion for rehearing. (Vol. II PCR. 304-06). The State also filed a motion for rehearing. (Vol. II PCR. 302-03). Mr. Owen's motion for rehearing argued

first, that at the very least, Rule 3.851 required a case management hearing to be held before the lower court set a hearing. (Vol. II PCR. 304-06). Additionally the motion argued setting a hearing with little more than a month to prepare and obtain the presence of Mr. Owen's out of state witnesses was prejudicial to Mr. Owen. (Vol. II PCR. 304-06).

Most importantly, Mr. Owen's rehearing motion argued that he was entitled to a hearing on all of the claims that he designated as requiring an evidentiary hearing as explicitly required by Rule 3.851 and supported by the Rule's commentary. (Vol. II PCR. 304-06). On March 9, 2006, the lower court vacated the previous order denying Mr. Owen's motion in part and setting a hearing. (Vol. II PCR. 307). The lower court set a case management conference to be held on March 31, 2006.

D. THE CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCES AND THE DENIAL OF MR. OWEN'S RIGHT TO A HEARING

At the first case management, counsel for Mr. Owen argued for an evidentiary hearing on all of the claims Mr. Owen designated in his postconviction motion as requiring factual determinations. (Vol. VIII PCR. 1-49). This was each of Mr. Owen's claims. The lower court indicated which claims would be denied and allowed Mr. Owen to amend the motion to overcome the lower court's denial of a hearing. On April 3, 2006, the lower court issued a written order. (Vol. II PCR. 314). The written

order memorialized that Mr. Owen was granted an evidentiary hearing on Claim II, part of Claim III, and Claim IV. The order denied an evidentiary hearing on the rest of the motion.

E. MR. OWEN WAS ENTITLED TO A HEARING ON ALL CLAIMS DESIGNATED AS REQUIRING A FACTUAL DETERMINATION UNDER RULE 3.851.

The revision of Rule 3.851 became effective on October 1, 2001. At issue here and as the commentary stated:

Most significantly, [new subdivision (f)] requires an evidentiary hearing on claims listed in an initial motion as requiring a factual determination. [This] Court has identified the failure to hold evidentiary hearings on initial motions as a major cause of delay the capital postconviction process and determined that, in most cases, requiring evidentiary hearing on initial presenting motions factually based claims which will avoid this cause of delay.

In Allen v. Butterworth, this Court stated:

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