#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DUANE OWEN

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC06-2104 Lower Tribunal No.84-4014 CF

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PALM BEACHCOUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

CELIA TERENZIO
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 0656879
1515 N. Flagler Dr. Suite 900
West Palm Beach Fl. 33401
Telephone: (561) 837-5000
Facsimile: (561) 837-5099

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- I. Appellant's argues that he is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on all claims he so designates without consideration of any legal defense raised by the state is a misstatement of the law. The trial court's summary denial of several claims because they were procedurally bared and legally insufficient was correct.
- II. Trial counsel's performance during voir dire was constitutionally permissible. The record unequivocally established, that counsel was seeking jurors who were amenable to an insanity defense and who could fairly assess mitigating evidence in support of a life sentence.
- III. Trial counsel's performance during the penalty phase was constitutionally permissible. The record overwhelming established that counsel did not present evidence of chronic substance and alcohol abuse nor its use at the time of the crime because Appellant did not indicate that such evidence existed. Moreover, the evidence presented at the hearing supported a finding that no significant evidence of intoxication existed.

- IV. Trial counsel's performance during the guilt phase was constitutionally permissible. There was no evidence to support a voluntary intoxication defense.
- V. The trial court properly denied Appellant's claim that cumulative error warranted a reversal of his conviction and sentence because no error ever occurred.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED, WITHOUT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING, APPELLANT'S CLAIMS BECAUSE THEY WERE PROCEDURALLY BARRED, OR LEGALLY INSUFFICIENT

Appellant argues that the trial court's summary denial of several of his claims was improper. He argues that the trial court was without any discretion and in fact Appellant was automatically entitled to an evidentiary hearing on any claim identified in the motion as one which contained a factual dispute. See Fla. R. Crim. Pro. 3.851 (5)(A)(i). Appellant does not present any case law in support of that argument. Instead he relies on the commentary to the 2001 amendment as well as a selected reading of the amended rule. Appellant misstates the law.

Although the rule requires trial courts to conduct evidentiary hearings in cases involving initial motions, the rule was never intended to abrogate current and long standing case law which precludes litigation of any claim that is not legally sufficient as pled or is procedurally barred. Indeed the same rule upon which Appellant relies for support also requires the

The answer shall address the <u>legal insufficiency</u> of any claim in the motion, respond to the allegations of the motion, and <u>address any procedural bars</u>. As to any claims of legal insufficiency or procedural bar, the state shall include a short statement of any applicable case law.

3.851 (3)(A) ii)(emphasis added). Moreover, the rule also requires the trial court to hear oral argument on purely legal claims. See 3.851 (5)(A)(ii).

These provisions make clear that simply because a defendant identifies a claim as one containing a factual dispute requiring an evidentiary hearing, does not end the inquiry. Should the state identify a claim as procedurally barred or legally insufficient, irrespective of a potential factual dispute, the trial court will then make a legal determination based on the representations of the parties. The trial court is permitted to summarily deny any claim it determines is legally sufficient or

procedurally barred. Appellant's argument that the 2001 amendment to 3.851 now precludes summary denial on claims that are procedurally bared or legally insufficient as pled is a misstatement of the law. See Bryant v. State, 901 So. 2d 810, 821 (Fla. 2005)(upholding summary denial of claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to properly present the "shackling issue" because, "[t]he issue was presented on the merits to the trial court and on direct appeal before this Court and is therefore procedurally barred").1

As detailed in the Statement of the Case and Facts, Owen presented seven claims in his motion for postconviction relief. Regarding those claims in which he was denied a hearing, the trial court premised the denial on <a href="Legal">Legal</a> grounds alone, i.e., the claim was either procedurally barred or it was insufficiently pled.<sup>2</sup> (PCR 312-314, 732-747, PCT 3-40). Owen was also permitted to amend his motion and include further argument or facts in an attempt to overcome the legal obstacles which were fatal to those claims identified by the court as subject to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Because Bryant filed his initial motion for postconviction relief on November 20, 2002, the 2001 amended version was applicable.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In some instances the trial court alternatively found that the claim to be refuted by the record.

summary denial. (PCR 38-40).<sup>3</sup> The trial court was permitted to summarily deny claims on purely legal grounds. Appellant's argument to the contrary is without merit.

The remainder of this argument will focus on the specific issues Appellant argues were improperly denied without an evidentiary hearing. In his first claim, Appellant challenged the admissibility of his confession. Specifically he identified four separate arguments he claims should have been raised by trial counsel at the motion to suppress hearing. Counsel's failure to do so amounted to ineffective assistance of counsel under <a href="Strickland v. Washington">Strickland v. Washington</a>, 466 U.S. 688 (1984). The trial court determined that the entire claim was procedurally barred because the voluntariness of Appellant's confession had been litigated previously. (PCR 732-734). That ruling was proper.

38-40).

Additionally, Appellant alleges that the trial court somehow precluded him from presenting a proper motion for postconviction relief. That claim is rebutted from the record. Following the filing of his initial motion, Appellant requested ninety days to file an amended motion which would include any new claims and amendments to any existing claims. Although counsel possessed all the additional public records necessary to file his amended motion, he sought the lengthy extension because the record on appeal was so voluminous. (PCT 4, 36). The trial court granted him forty-eight days in which to file the amended motion. (PCT

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Appellant argued that to the extent trial counsel Carey Haughwout was limited in her representation due to the actions of former counsel, Barry Krischer, Owen is asserting that both prior counsel were ineffective. (PCR 10).

Maharaj v. State, 684 So. 2d 726, 728 (Fla. 1996)(precluding use of postconviction proceedings to relitigate issue previously raised on direct appeal).

In the collateral attack of his confession, Appellant claimed that he was "illegally seized" on May 29, 1984, because there was no probable cause to arrest him on the outstanding charges. (PCR 11). Appellant conceded that this issue was raised in the first motion to suppress, and on direct appeal. Owen v. State, 560 So. 2d 207 (Fla. 1990). (PCR 329-330). However because several facts were not included in that motion, entitled to re-litigate the claim in he should be postconviction proceedings. (Id.). The trial court rejected that reasoning. (PCT 59-61, PCR 312, 732-734). The trial court's determination was proper. See Rivera v. State, 717 So. 2d 477 (Fla. 1998) (upholding summary denial of claims in postconviction because a variation was raised on direct appeal); Harvey v. Dugger, 656 So. 2d 1253, 1256 (Fla. 1995) (explaining that postconviction proceedings are not to be used as an opportunity to re-litigate old claims under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel.)

There is no question that the voluntariness of Owen's

confession has been litigated extensively throughout the years.<sup>5</sup>
In fact, this Court determined that the finding of voluntariness
is law of the case:

Clearly, when we were first presented with the review of the voluntariness of Owen's confession, we determined that the law enforcement officers who interviewed Owen did not employ improper means to obtain the confession. Despite that holding, Owen is once again before us arguing that his confession was coerced.

We first note that the law of the case doctrine is controlling here. As we have explained:

Generally, under the doctrine of law of the case, questions of law which have been decided by the highest appellate court become the law of the case must which be followed subsequent proceedings, both the lower and appellate courts." Brunner Enters., Inc. Department of Revenue, 452 So. 2d 550, 552 (Fla. 1984). However, the doctrine is absolute not an mandate, but rather a self-imposed restraint that courts abide by to promote finality and efficiency in

In the two motions to suppress and the two direct appeals, Owen challenged the admissibility of his confession on the following grounds; 1. the arrest was illegal because it was not based on probable cause and therefore his subsequent confession was tainted; 2. the confession was involuntary because it was psychological coerced through threats and promises; and 3. the police ignored his invocation of his right to remain silent. Owen v. State, 560 So. 2d 207 (Fla. 1990); Owen v. State, 862 So. 2d 687, 693 (Fla. 2003).

the judicial process and prevent relitigation of the same issue in a case. This Court has the power to reconsider and correct erroneous rulings in exceptional circumstances and where reliance on the previous decision would result in manifest injustice, notwithstanding that such rulings have become the law of the case.

Owen, 696 So. 2d at 720 (citation omitted). As he did in 1990, Owen is continuing to argue that law enforcement officers improperly coerced him into confessing to the Slattery homicide. While it is clearly within our province to reevaluate our original 1990 holding as to the voluntariness of Owen's confession, Owen has not presented any new evidence to justify reviewing the issue again. He has failed to provide this Court with any "exceptional circumstances" to warrant a new review. It is clear that he is simply attempting to relitigate the same issue.

Owen v. State, 862 So.2d 687, 694 (Fla. 2003) (emphasis added). Appellant's attempt to again challenge this finding under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel was denied properly. Rivera supra; Harvey supra; Bryant supra.

Moreover, this Court also noted that the trial court, although not required to do so, conducted a second motion to suppress hearing. The trial court again found the confession voluntary. On appeal, this Court concluded as follows:

22

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Unlike the first hearing, Appellant testified at this second hearing.

a thorough reading of transcript reveals no instances of threats or improper coercion by the officers. Owen was made fully aware of his constitutional and knowingly and voluntarily confessed to the Slattery homicide on June 21, 1984. Clearly, based upon the evidence presented during the motion to suppress hearing, and the entire record of this case, Owen's confession was unquestionably voluntary, and, therefore, the trial court properly denied Owen's motion to suppress based upon this issue.

Owen, 862 So. 2d at 696. (emphasis added). Summary denial of this sub-issue was proper.

In his next sub-issue, Appellant claims that the trial court erred in summarily denying his Sixth Amendment challenge to the admissibility of his confession. In addition to finding the claim procedurally barred, the trial court also found the claim to be without merit as a matter of law. (PCR 735). Relief was denied properly.

Specifically Appellant claimed that because his Sixth amendment counsel had attached right to in the unrelated burglary charges and because the bail on the burglary charge was significantly increased due to his status as a suspect in this murder, the Sixth Amendment right to counsel was extended to this case. In other words, because Appellant was suspected of committing this murder, his bond in the unrelated burglary was increased. Therefore his Sixth Amendment right to

counsel in this case had attached. That is an incorrect statement of the law. In fact Appellant does not cite to any case for this proposition. The trial court properly determined that the claim was <a href="legally">legally</a> without merit. <a href="See Texas v. Cobb">See Texas v. Cobb</a>, 532 U.S. 162 (2001)(rejecting claim that Sixth Amendment right automatically attaches to uncharged crimes even if crimes are "very closely related factually" or are "factually interwoven" with charged offenses); <a href="United State v. Johnson">United State v. Johnson</a>, 352 F.3d 339 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2003)(applying test under double jeopardy to establish that although victims were same in each charge, the two crimes were distinct for purposes of Sixth Amendment).

Because, Appellant's claim was completely void of merit, counsel did not render deficient performance. See Gordon v.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Appellant made a very similar argument on direct appeal, in the Worden case. Following an extensive discussion of United States Supreme Court precedent, this Court rejected the claim as follows:

In the present case, although Owen's right to counsel had attached and been invoked on the initial burglary charge and outstanding warrants by the time of his first appearance on those offenses, this fact is unrelated to his rights concerning the Worden murder. His rights on the murder charge attached when he attended first appearance on that offense. Because the questioning session during which he confessed took place prior to this first appearance, Owen had no Sixth Amendment right to counsel at that time. Thus, no Sixth Amendment right was violated

<u>State</u>, 863 SO. 2d 1215, 1219 (Fla. 2003(finding counsel can't be ineffective for failing to pursue motions that were futile). Summary denial was proper.

In his third sub-issue, Appellant argued that that counsel was ineffective for failing to move to suppress his statements because they were made during plea negotiations. In addition to finding the claim to be procedurally barred, (PCR 733), the trial court also found the claim to be refuted from the record. (PCR 736). In fact this Court found the following on direct appeal:

direct examination, acknowledged that the officers had told him on several occasions they could not make any promises, yet he asserted that he subjectively believed they could help him. Further, on cross-examination, Owen stated that he was advised of his constitutional rights perhaps fifteen to twenty times over course of the interrogations. admitted that he never asserted his right to remain silent at the time he was read his rights, and never invoked his right to an attorney. In fact, when asked, "And you wanted to talk to the detectives and that's why you never invoked your right to remain silent or for an attorney; isn't that true?" Owen responded, "Absolutely." Owen testified that during the 1984 questioning, Officer Wood, one of the law enforcement officers conducting the interrogations, never promised Owen that he would help him а doctor if he confessed. Additionally, Owen conceded that he knew Wood did not have the authority to make any deals with him

Owen, 862 So. 2d at 696.(emphasis added). This Court also noted that Appellant's video taped confession also revealed that he knew that the office should not make any deals with him. The Court noted the following:

Although Officer McCoy, another enforcement officer who interviewed Owen, told Owen that he would be able to obtain medical help for his mental health issues through the court system, it was clear that Owen understood that McCoy could not make him any promises. Owen himself said to McCoy, "But still, like I said, you can't guarantee me nothing. You can't make any promises." On several subsequent occasions, Owen was told by the officers conducting the interviews that no promises or guarantees could be made

<u>Id</u> at 697.(emphasis added). This claim is completely rebutted from the record and is therefore void of any merit.<sup>8</sup>

Additionally, the state would note that the voluntariness of Owen's confession is underscored by his own testimony at the second suppression hearing. This Court described it as follows,

Owen's testimony during the motion to suppress hearing alone supports the conclusion that the officers did not employ improper methods to obtain a statement from

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> This Court rejected the identical issue in the habeas petition filed by Appellant in his capital case involving victim, Georgianne Worden. Therein, again relying on Owen's taped statements found, "clearly the record shows that Owen knew that the officers could not negotiate a plea in this case." Owen v. Crosby, 854 So. 2d 182, 189 (Fla. 2003).

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